
1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 MEETING Monday, October 19, 2015   
    
TIME     5:39 PM 
     
PRESIDING OFFICER   Mayor David P. Maher   
 
PRESENT Mayor Maher, Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors 

Carlone, Cheung, Kelley, Mazen, McGovern, Simmons 
and Toomey 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
MOMENT OF MEDITATION  Offered in memory of Joseph Squires 
 
MAYOR ANNOUNCED THAT THE MEETING WAS BEING RECORDED WITH AUDIO 
AND VISUAL DEVICES. 
 

SUBMISSION OF THE RECORD 
 

On a motion of Councillor Simmons the minutes from the Regular Meeting of September 21, 
2015 and the Roundtable/Working Meeting of October 5, 2015 were accepted on a voice vote of 
seven members. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Heddi Siebel, 41 Stearns Street, spoke on Calendar Item #8.  She stated her support for the rezoning 
of the former Masse site.  She stated that she had been part of the neighborhood residents’ 
committee and the process was a fruitful one but not without compromises.  She stated that the 
building has evolved to include a diverse population of tenants.  She asked the City Council to 
support this petition.  She stated that the positive outcome was possible because of an amazing team 
of residents.   
 
Jan Devereux, 255 Lakeview Avenue, spoke on City Manager Agenda #27 and Policy Order #9.  
She stated that she is pleased that we are poised to move forward with a city wide planning process.  
She stated that the prospect of such a plan has opened up conversations across the city.  She stated 
that she agrees with Policy Order #21 that it should be recorded so that a broader audience can hear 
the conversation.  She stated that she knows the $3.3 million that City Manager is requested is more 
than originally estimated but looking at the scope of the project and deliverables over the next 3 
years she believes that it will be money well spent.  She stated that regarding the growth around 
the Alewife area, the planning vision cannot come soon enough.  She stated that there are some 
large developments already in the pipeline and she hopes that Utile’s work will inform and shape 
them.  She stated that the appointed Advisory Committee will play a central role.  She asked that 
the City Council ask for the City Manager’s assurance that residency will be a requirement for 
membership on the Advisory Committee.   
 
Carol O’Hare, 172 Magazine Street, spoke on Committee Report #3, Policy Order #3 and 
Applications and Petitions 1-4.  She stated that she has been troubled by what is happening to the 



2 
 

city trees.  She stated that she hoped that the Health and Environment Committee’s hearing would 
begin to develop holistic, workable ways to keeping the existing and new city trees healthy and to 
increasing the declining tree canopy.  She stated that Policy Order #3 proposed distributing hoses 
and reducing property owners’ water bills to encourage them to water their street trees.  She asked 
questions pertaining to education and maintenance regarding trees in the city.   
 
Ken Taylor, 23 Berkeley Street, spoke on Policy Order #23.  He stated his support for the order and 
stated that Cambridge has many iconic buildings, historic landmarks that are not properly lit.  He 
stated that Boston started a program which surveyed landmarks in the city to determine which were 
the most important and which should receive special lighting.  He stated that Boston has been very 
successful in this project and stated that Cambridge could do something similar.  He stated that it 
must be done in the context of energy conservation.  He asked for City Council support of this 
order. 
 
Steve Bardige, 55 Stearns Street, spoke on Calendar Item #8.  He stated his support of the rezoning 
petition at the former Masse site.  He stated that there is a detailed Memo of Understanding between 
developers and neighbors about what the site will look like.   
 
David Masse, 249 Walden Street, stated that he appreciates the effort and work that has been done 
with the neighborhood and stated his support for this project at the former Masse site.    
 
Lang Keys, 92 Chilton Street, spoke on City Manager Agenda #27.  He stated his support for City 
Manager Agenda Item #27.  He stated that a sense of place is a sense of neighborhood.  He stated 
that the fundamental problem with the four quadrants of the Alewife planning area is that with the 
exception of the Rindge Area Quadrangle there is little if any “intrinsic character” or “meaning” 
that people give to the Triangle, the Quad or the Mall.  He stated that a sense of place in the Alewife 
area is but one of the many critical issues with which the master plan will deal.  He stated that the 
master planning process with the first year jump start for the Alewife area is the way to begin to 
deal with critical issues.  He urged the City Council to approve the City Manager’s reasonable and 
carefully considered request for funding for this master plan with its emphasis on action and 
implementation criteria.      
 
James Williamson, 1000 Jackson Place, spoke on City Manager Agenda Items 24-28.  He stated 
that regarding City Manager Item #4, why free cash cannot be spent.  He stated that he would like 
the logic explained.  He stated that there are homeless issues and disrepair of Beacon Street but yet 
we will take free cash and combine with a Homeland Security grant for an underwater remote 
operated vehicle with video and sonar.  He stated that he hopes that the City Council will resist the 
temptation to accept this money.  He stated that he would like the City Council to look closely at 
the community benefits packages and ask if this is the tradeoff for more commercial development 
in the city.   
 
Michael Gervais spoke on Committee Report #2.  He stated that he is in favor of the underwater 
vehicle if it keeps Uber vehicles out of cab stands in the city.  He thanked the City Council for 
meeting with the taxi industry.  He stated that there is an attitude with the Cambridge Police 
Department and the feeling that they just do not have to do anything about enforcement of Uber 
vehicles.  He stated that enforcement must be done.  He stated that there is a need for regulations 
for ride shares and liveries.  He asked for the City Council’s support. 
 
Andrew Schwerin, 411 Franklin Street, stated that he supports City Manager Agenda #23.  He 
stated that an updated ground lease is needed.  He stated that the CHA and Manning residents have 
worked together.  He stated that the tenant board is in favor of this item.   



3 
 

 
Kiril Alexander, 158 Western Avenue, spoke on Applications and Petitions #7.  He stated that there 
is a massive shortage for affordable housing for entrepreneurs and design professionals.  He stated 
that Western Avenue has a long history of mixed use.  He thanked the City Council for the input 
that he has received.  He stated that he is happy that the Cambridge government is working the way 
that it should.  He stated that he talked to neighbors that are affected by this petition.  He thanked 
the City Council and asked for support of the proposal.   
 
Catherine Alexander, 406 Franklin Street, asked for support of Applications and Petitions #7.  She 
stated that when she had opportunity to purchase this site, the hope was to include in this site their 
small family business.  She asked for City Council support of this petition.   
 
Gill Balwinder, 41 Malden Street, Everett, spoke on Committee Report #2.  He stated that he would 
like a level playing field between Uber and the taxi industry.  He stated his support for the orders. 
 
Ruth Allen, 48 Fenno Street, spoke on Calendar Item #8.  She stated her support for Calendar Item 
#8.  She stated that this project shows what can be done when developers and neighbors work 
together.  She stated that this is a great model for the city and she thanked all of the people who 
were part of the process.  She stated that regarding broadcasting Roundtable Meetings it is 
necessary for the neighbors to know what is going on.  She stated the importance of involving 
neighborhoods first.   
 
Florrie Wescoat stated that she is co-chair of the Cambridge Public Planting Committee.  She stated 
that the committee is working with the Department of Public Works to improve the vigor and 
coverage of the tree canopy in Cambridge in a number of ways.  She stated that they are advocating 
planting species that will grow big enough to provide shade to the streets, even under wires.  She 
stated that there is a need to reduce the amount of salt that is applied to streets and sidewalks, or 
use a less harmful de-icer.  She noted that something must be done about natural gas leaks that are 
killing trees and adding to climate warming.  She stated her support for a $50.00 incentive for 
people who water trees near their homes with some refining.  She stated her hope that this project 
will inspire Cambridge residents in caring for the public street trees.   
 
Andrea Wilder, 12 Arlington Street, spoke on Policy Order #3.  She stated that for many people, 
trees are an afterthought.  She stated that we need to buy into this system.   
 
Paul Poisson, 808 Memorial Drive, spoke on Policy Order #16.  He stated that there is a heavy 
amount of traffic coming off of the bridge at high speeds.  He stated that there are over 800 residents 
and many children in two buildings in the area.  He stated his support for this order.   
 
Gregg Moree, 25 Fairfield Street, stated that he would like to know how many housing units would 
potentially be placed at the Volpe site.  He would like to see the creation of jobs and training and 
would like to know about the environmental impact.  He stated that he would also like to know 
how many taxi stands will be at this site.  He stated his support for the taxi industry.  He stated that 
linkage to jobs is serious business.   
 
Patrick Barrett, 234 Broadway, asked the City Council to consider the petition regarding the 
expansion of the BA-3 zone along Western Avenue.  He stated that he is advocating for local 
business.  He stated that over the past two years Central Square has lost eight commercial spaced 
in BA districts due to the lucrative nature of residential development and low monetary value of 
local retail space.  He stated that mixed use development will save Cambridge.  He stated that the 
city needs to allow people to use their land more flexibly and stop limiting creativity.  He stated 



4 
 

that “commercial” means too many things and there should be clarification between Genzyme, 
McDonalds, a start-up or home office.  He stated that regarding the $3.3 million for the Master 
Plan, Cambridge has a Master Plan.  He stated that this latest endeavor is nothing more than a 
smokescreen that came about to block development in Central Square, namely the C2 Zoning that 
has been on the City Council’s table for over two years.  He urged that the City Council reject this 
acquiescence or at least bring C2 back to a vote and implement the zoning now and not a decade 
from now when only the largest corporations can afford a debt service.  He stated that Mr. Levy 
should publicly apologize for his frivolous and politically-motivated open meeting law inquiry.  He 
stated that leaders should be above such petty and obvious tricks.    
 
Bob Woodbury, 133 River Street, stated that he is in support of Applications and Petitions #7. 
 
Margarida Ortiz stated her support of a $15.00 minimum wage because it is important. 
 
Eliseo Perez stated that he is a worker as a janitor at Genzyme.  He stated that he is a proud member 
of SEIU and on various days he works in Kendall Square.  He thanked the City Council for 
providing good jobs in Cambridge and he stated that he receives a salary that is justifiable for the 
work he does and he received great benefits.  He stated that the legislation before the City Council 
will secure great salaries and benefits that many have fought for so long.  He stated that these are 
efforts that were well fought and helped him maintain a good job.  He stated that he and his co-
workers ask for the City Council’s support. 
 
Carlos Chacon thanked the City Council for the opportunity to speak.  He stated that his work 
allows him to speak with many workers in Cambridge and he has seen that some are not being paid 
in a decent manner and suffering abuse such as wage theft.  He stated that many times they are 
incorrectly classified.  He stated that the City Council has history in its hands to be able to 
understand the work that these individuals do to make sure that buildings are clean.  He stated that 
justice, respect, dignity, liberty, racial diversity and being a city of inclusion is what makes 
Cambridge so unique.   He stated that we cannot allow irresponsible companies to abuse workers.  
He asked the City of Cambridge to be a leader in the state and be an example for all cities as it has 
always been. 
 
Marilyn Wellons, 651 Green Street, thanked the previous speakers for speaking out for the workers 
in Cambridge.  She stated that she would like to see enforcement of tour buses on Putnam Avenue.  
She stated that another issue is the lighting.  She stated that there is an upcoming meeting.  She 
stated that she agrees with Ms. O’Hare’s comments about trees.  She stated that the city is engaged 
in a numbers game when it comes to trees.  She pointed out that trees really do matter.  She stated 
that every street tree is important.   
 
Ingrid Nava, counsel for SEIU, stated that regarding the standard benefit portion of the Living 
Wage Ordinance, stated that she reviews legislation and initiatives for potential challenges that may 
come forth.  She stated that standard benefit portion is something that will pass muster.  She stated 
that there is concern that this portion could be pre-empted but the way this is crafted, there is no 
requirement that an employer participate in a plan.  She stated that it is her opinion that this portion 
passes legal muster.   
 
Hasson Rashid, 820 Massachusetts Avenue, stated that the city’s proposed up zoning of 14 acres 
of the Volpe Center, if enacted as an ordinance, will be a discriminatory and will have a desperate 
impact towards the homeless sector and mosaic.  He stated that initiatives to accommodate the 
homeless sector are being eliminated through these up zoning land use policies and changes.  He 
stated that in light of the fact that the recent Charrette recommendations are not ready or acted upon 



5 
 

as of yet, he feels that efforts to divide the Mitigation Revenue Stabilization Fund and the 
Community Benefits Stabilization Fund should be delayed and put on hold.   
 
Heather Hoffman, 213 Hurley Street, stated her support for urban gardens, rooftop gardens, and 
trees.  She stated that the city can and should do better by our vegetative neighbors.  She stated that 
with respect to the Alewife Pedestrian Bridge, we need to just do it.  She stated that Cambridge 
Street does indeed stink and stated that perhaps this time it can be fixed.  She stated that she would 
like the City Council Roundtable broadcast.  She stated that she cannot recall the last meeting at 
which the City Council did not suspend its rules for a worthy purpose and informing the citizenry 
is a worthy purpose.  She stated that perhaps the City Council rules need to be changed.  
 
Jeff Murray, 115 Pearl Street, stated that he has been a beekeeper for 40 years in Cambridge.  He 
stated that he was involved working with many people to check out many ordinances throughout 
the U.S., Canada and France and they have submitted to the City Council their recommendations.  
He stated that he would like the City Council to support this ordinance.  He stated that while he 
understands reasoning behind this being forwarded to an agricultural council, this subject has been 
worked over and over again.  He stated that he is concerned that in a new venue there may not be 
anyone who is knowledgeable of bees.    
 
John Hawkinson, 84 Massachusetts Avenue, stated that as it relates to Policy Order #21, he would 
like to see this meeting re-designated as a special meeting and the transmission of said meeting on 
Cable television and the internet in the name of transparency.  He stated that he has an issue with 
Roundtable Meetings not being televised.     
 
John Jackson, Jamaica Plain, stated that he works at Genzyme.  He stated that he has seen how the 
standards in the commercial security industries have improved.  He stated that at his current wage 
he is able to lead a decent life.  He stated that the positive impact of a decent wage benefits the 
clients that their sites are secure.  He stated that when a person makes a decent wage, turnover is 
lower and the quality of officers is higher.  He stated that he wants the City Council to stand with 
workers to ensure that all service workers are paid decent and fair wages.    
 
Peggy Barnes Leonard stated her support for Agenda #27 regarding a master plan.  Also in favor 
of Policy Order #9.  She stated that she is in support of Policy Order #21.  She stated that these 
items are inter-related.  She stated that the City has a substantial climate assessment and she urged 
that next steps the climate assessment be integrated to planning.       
 
Eric Hoagland, 195 Lexington Avenue, stated his support of Calendar Item #8.  He asked the City 
Council to move the petition to adoption.  He stated that much time and effort went into this project.  
He stated that they are eager to begin work at this site.   
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

 
# 2 Placed on file 
# 3 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
# 7 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
# 8 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
# 9 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
#10 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
#11 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
#12 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 



6 
 

#13 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
#15 Placed on file 
#16 Policy Order # 24 adopted 8 - 1 - 0 (Councillor Kelley voted in the negative) 
#17 Placed on file 
#18 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
#26 Order adopted 9 - 0 - 0 
 

NON CONSENT AGENDA 
 

WALDEN/SHERMAN STREET REZONING 
 

# 1 Here insert Agenda # 1 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Carlone stated that this 
evening positive comments were made about the Masse site by all the parties involved.  He 
commented that this is a great example of working together.  This process should be reviewed as 
part of the Master plan process.  In this instance the design happened first and then the zoning 
met the design.   
 
Councillor Cheung stated that this outcome works for both the developer and the residents.  It is a 
better proposal than the original.  There were large community meetings and small group 
meetings on this proposal.  The developer was open to the concerns and input of the residents to 
create a better project.  This willingness to engage the community productively is the kind of 
thing that the City wants to see from all developers.   
 
Councillor McGovern thanked the neighbors and the developer.  This is a great example of a 
great process and other developers should take note of this process.  The project is a better project 
for the negotiations by all.  He supports this. 
 
Mayor Maher noted that this is a good outcome for the community due to the significant amount 
of work done by all parties.   
 
Councillor Cheung moved suspension of the rules to bring forward Calendar Item # 8 and to refer 
Agenda # 1 to the petition. 
 
The question now came on suspension of the rules and on a voice vote the rules were - 
Suspended.   
 
Here insert Calendar # 8 read by Mayor Maher.   
On a voice vote Agenda # 1 was referred to the petition. 
 
Mayor Maher stated that Calendar # 8 was before the City Council. 
Councillor Cheung moved passage to be ordained of Calendar # 8 including the signed 
Memorandum of Agreement referred to in the report, which reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT ORDINANCE # 1372) 
The question now came on passage to be ordained as amended to include the Memorandum of 
Agreement and the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley, Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher    - 9 
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 



7 
 

and the proposed amendment was - 
 Passed to be ordained as amended. 
    

LIVING WAGE 
 

Here insert Agenda # 28 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Simmons moved suspension of the 
rules to dispense with the regular order of business to bring forward Agenda # 28, the same being 
a proposed amendment to the Living Wage Ordinance. 
 
The question now came on suspension of the rules - and on a voice vote the rules were - 
Suspended.   
 
Councillor Simmons stated that there are a number of people who are interested in this matter.  
She explained that in May it became known that the City had outsourced some of its janitorial 
services.  It came to the attention of the City Council through SEIU 32BJ that there was a 
problem.   
 
Councillor Simmons moved suspension of the rules to allow Roxana Rivera to speak in public 
comment.  She had signed up but her name was on the reverse side of the Public Comment signup 
sheet.   
 
The question now came on suspension of the rules to allow Ms. Rivera to speak for three minutes 
in Public Comment - and on a voice vote the rules were - 
 Suspended. 
 
Roxana Rivera, Vice President, SEIU 32BJ, spoke about the amendment to the Living Wage 
ordinance as it pertains to the contracting of City janitors and security officers. 
She stated that SEIU has worked for the last thirteen years to lift the standards of janitorial and 
security employees.  She stated that there have been found unintended consequences from 
contracting out these services.  In the janitorial industry this has invited unscrupulous employers 
to bid and win contracts.  In Cambridge there are workers receiving less than the living wage.  
She stated that workers are misclassified with sub-contractors.  Contractors are alleging that sub-
contractors are independent contractors.  When the City is unhappy with services of the 
contractor the contract is rebid which leads to a revolving door of unscrupulous contractors.  She 
stated that SEIU is in this to lift the standard of industries for workers and for responsible 
businesses.  She stated that SEIU is committed to this and to have good jobs and responsible 
contractors.  She urged that whatever the City Council passed that it have a pathway for good jobs 
and benefits and to have responsible contractors bid on the work.   
 
Councillor Simmons stated that it has come to the City Council's attention that the City is 
contracting with contractors that are skirting the law.  She stated that the Economic Development 
Committee held several hearings on this and SEIU brought forward language for the Living Wage 
Ordinance that would close this loophole so that contractors could not underpay or reclassify or 
deny benefits to employees who do not work for the City of Cambridge but works for a contractor 
that contracts with the City of Cambridge.  She stated that the City Manager's recommendation is 
before the City Council.  She explained that what is sought with the change in the Living Wage 
Ordinance is to insure that the City does not set the standard for "bottom type" contractors.  She 
wanted a guaranteed rate of pay and do not want contractors who pay below the living wage and 
those who do not provide benefits.  She stated that under the current ordinance the City would 
continue to get sub-standard contractors where City employees and contractor employees are 
being paid two different salaries.  She noted that the City Council has stood shoulder to shoulder 



8 
 

for workers’ rights in her entire career on the City Council.  She explained that the proposal will 
allow the City to hire "high road" contractors that the City contracts for janitorial services.  She 
stated that the City has been outsourcing its janitorial services for less than a decade.  She stated 
that the City's procurement method is attracting low bid contractors.  This proposal would level 
the playing field for what the City pays for contractor cleaners so that they are the same as 
anywhere in the commercial market.  In the letter from the City Manager it states that there are 
recommendations from SEIU that the City Manager cannot recommend at this time including the 
provision of benefits that would lead to employees creating private action or would create 
additional enforcement procedures.  It would prose legal and logistical issues for the City.  
Councillor Simmons stated that she disagrees with this.  She submitted an amendment to add 
back the standard benefit (AMENDMENT A).  If this is left out it leaves in the loophole for the 
same contractors who will continue to pay low wages and will not be mandated to pay benefits.  
She stated that this may be a more expensive enterprise and the City may want to consider not 
outsourcing these services and keep janitorial services in house.  She stated that she is concerned 
to let this proposal go forward with the fact that if a new contractor is brought in the employees 
will be offered employment for 90 days; the displaced worker option.   
 
Councillor Simmons stated that she would like to pass to a second reading the recommendation of 
the City Manager amending it to add back the standard benefit portion and the displaced worker 
amendment (AMENDMENT B).   
 
Mr. Rossi stated that what the City is proposing is significant and is almost doubling the wage 
that is being paid in this category.  He stated that the language for the prevailing wage would be 
accepted which is the area of $20.  He stated that the living wage is $14.95.  He spoke about 
having a provision about sanctions against anyone who violates the provisions of this ordinance.  
He noted that there have been no complaints filed with the Purchasing Agent that could be 
verified.  The City does not have a complaint before them to investigate.  He stated that this is not 
a substantial amount of the City's custodial services.  Mr. Rossi explained that ten years ago these 
services were outsourced for the Water Department, some nighttime Library and Police Station 
cleaning.  These are the only contracts.  He stated that what the City is offering makes sense and 
is more than any of the non-profits will be receiving.  He stated that the City is willing to pay 
these wages but he is unsure if other non-profits will pay these wages.  This proposal is fair and it 
is a huge change.  He stated that the City has issues with legality and has omitted these 
provisions.  He spoke about the provision to employ people for 90 days and that this provision 
did not work for the City.  He explained that if the City had a contractor who was cleaning the 
building and if this contractor employed an employee who was a problem employee and if the 
contract were terminated the City would be liable to employee the problem employee for 90 days.  
This makes no sense and the City of Cambridge should not entertain this.  He stated that if the 
contracts are made ridiculously expensive for the City it would be cheaper for the City to hire its 
own employees.  He felt that the proposal was a good balance and better than anything before.  
He stated that the only issues not backed by the City were issues that are not legally beneficial for 
the City to take.   
 
A discussion ensued about the amount of the prevailing wage.  Ms. Witts stated that the rate is 
variable.  Councillor Simmons stated that she checked the living wage and it is $17.50 not $20.  
She disagreed with Mr. Rossi's statement that the City would be stuck with an unfavorable 
employee for 90 days.  She stated that under the displaced worker provision it states that if the 
contract changes the new contractor has to give the prior employees a 90 day notice.  This 
provides stability to the employee and may be giving the new contractor a good employee.  She 
stated that if a contractor has a poor employee she does not think that the contractor will continue 
to employ this worker.  Mr. Rossi stated that if the contract is lost and a new contractor comes on 



9 
 

the new contractor would be required to employ the employees from the prior contract for a 
period of 90 days.  She stated that though the bidding process high quality contractors would be 
awarded the bid who in turn would hire high quality employees and then this 90 day provision 
does not become problematic.   
 
Councillor McGovern stated that he agreed with Councillor Simmons on this matter.  He stated 
that under the displaced worker provision the contractor can let an employee go for just cause.  If 
an employee is not doing their job the employee can be fired legitimately.  This provision would 
provide stability for the City, contractor and the employee.  What is happening is that when new 
contractors come in they get rid of the current employees and look to hire new employees at a 
savings.  He stated that this is unfair to good workers.  Mr. Rossi responded that relationships 
exist between the contractors and the employees and the City is not part of this.  The City 
contracts for the service.  He stated that he is concerned that the City will be part of employment 
actions and will have to defend law suits and employee complaints.  He stated that this is a way to 
allow these employees to be paid what the City employees are paid and now the City is 
supplementing itself.  He stated that the City does not want to be monitoring these contracts.  He 
stated that SEIU is expecting the City to take over a big part of what they are responsible for.  He 
stated that he is trying to improve the contracts dramatically but there are legal problems.  
Councillor McGovern acknowledged that this is an improvement.  He stated that the City can 
outlined the expectation of contracts with the City to which contractors can or not bid on.  Mr. 
Rossi disagreed.  He stated that the City Council did not understand the intricate details of the 
relationship between the contractors and their employees and the position that this puts the City 
in.  Councillor McGovern cited examples of universities where subcontractors were not paying 
employees and the employees picketed.  He stated that Cambridge was used as an example of 
what treating employees should be.  He stated that the City's credibility is in question if the City 
is not setting a good example.  He supported the amendments offered by Councillor Simmons. 
 
Vice Mayor Benzan stated that this ordinance does help to create a better pathway for better 
wages.  He asked the City Solicitor to explain the constraints in the Erisa Statute to requiring sub-
contractors to provide benefits   City Solicitor Glowa stated that where the Erisa Statute governs 
benefits related to a defined benefit plan.  She stated that the court has interpreted ordinances that 
intrude into those areas as unlawful as preempted by the Erisa Act.  She stated that the concern is 
that some of the court decisions in this area and the way that this ordinance is structured the 
employers would be required to pay either additional wages or benefits that this could run afoul 
of the Erisa Statute due to prohibition of the ordinance mandating employers that benefits be 
provided.   Ms. Glowa stated that she respectfully disagreed with the SEIU's lawyer that this 
passes legal muster is more of an advocacy statement than an accurate statement of the law in this 
area.  She stated that if this ordinance is passed and challenged on Erisa grounds it could lead to 
lengthy and costly litigation.  She stated that no lawyer can say for certain that this is or is not 
unlawful by the Erisa Statute.  She stated that there are some legal risks with the City Council 
adopting this ordinance on these grounds.  Vice Mayor Benzan spoke about the statute providing 
for the cash for employee benefits.  He stated that if the sub-contractor would provide the cash 
equivalent of benefits and if the employee purchased a plan through the state is this possible, or 
would this lead to a legal challenge.  City Solicitor Glowa stated that the City's issue is that this 
would not be risk free.  She stated that the ordinance requires either the provision of these 
additional benefits or an additional rate of pay.  This is a partial requirement and the Erisa case 
law the benefits is a comprehensive scheme and if something intrudes into areas of the Erisa 
monopoly it will be struck down.  Vice Mayor Benzan suggested that City Council not get hung 
up with the amendment but proceed and look into the cash equivalent of benefits so that this is 
not held up.  He would like to see this move forward.   
 



10 
 

Councillor Carlone stated that he met with employees who work at City facility and their fear was 
that they came from a culture where there was retribution and danger.  The employee had copies 
of checks that showed that the pay was $10.00 per hour paid by the sub-contractor.  This 
employee was never paid the living wage.  When the employee brought the issue up the employee 
was reprimanded by the sub-contractor.  He stated that these are the employees who are being 
affected by this.  He agreed with Vice Mayor Benzan's suggestion to discuss the most difficult 
issues more but to move forward with the proposal.  He understands that the City Manager does 
not want to jeopardize the City's position, but maybe we can get closer. 
 
Councillor Mazen stated that this is another instance where the City's conservative opinion 
conflicts with what he views as basic wage justice.  He spoke about the vastly different legal 
issues for the working class when it comes to representation before City bodies and representation 
in the workplace.  He stated that the City has to be as aggressive as possible.  To the extent to 
which the City Solicitor is not absolute sure that the City will be sued or of the outcome is sued 
the City should shore up its position for workers’ rights by actions taken by the City Council.  He 
stated that we must negotiate from a position of strength and this starts with going the distance.  
He would rather go with the reality over the chance of litigation.   
 
Councillor Cheung spoke about working with his colleague on issues of workers’ rights and this 
comes down to for him is that the employees of the City is what makes this City great.  The 
people who clean the offices at night are just as vital to those who work in the offices.  He stated 
that government spending that goes toward people this is a benefit to the residents and a cost to 
the government.  If people can be paid a living wage with benefits and can afford to live in 
Cambridge this is money that gets put back in the local economy.  He noted that the City Council 
has been holding businesses and developers to strict standards. It undercuts this if the City 
Council is not willing to set even higher standards for ourselves.  The question for him is to 
provide the best for employees.  He stated that he supports Councillor Simmons on the leadership 
on this.   
 
Mayor Maher stated that Councillor Simmons has two amendments on this matter. 
 
Councillor Simmons there are two amendments; one to add the supplemental benefits package 
(AMENDMENT A) and the other is to include displaced worker language on the displaced 
worker (AMENDMENT B) and to pass the proposal to a second reading to include both 
amendments.     
 
Councillor Kelley stated that he has two competing copies of legislation, one of which has just 
been amended.  He stated that he would like to have a meeting of the Ordinance Committee to 
discuss the amendments in greater detail before ordination.   
 
Councillor Simmons stated that she is requested that the City Manager's recommendation be 
accepted with the two amendments included.   
 
Mayor Maher moved that the amendments be referred to the main motion - and on a voice vote 
the motion - 
 Carried. 
 
Mayor Maher stated that Councillor Kelley moved that the matter be referred to the Ordinance 
Committee prior to ordination. 
 
Councillor Kelley submitted the following order, the question being on adoption, to wit: 



11 
 

(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER #25) 
The order was - 
 Adopted on the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
Mayor Maher moved passage to a second reading as amended by the City Manager's 
recommendation and to include the two amendments which reads as follows: 
 
(HERE INSERT FIRST PUBLICATION # 3383) 
 
The proposed amendment was - 
 Passed to a second as amended at the City Council meeting held on October 19, 2015 and 
on or after November 16, 2015 the question come on passing to be ordained. 
  
# 4 Here insert Agenda # 4 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Kelley moved for suspension 
of the rules to bring forward Agenda # 5 as well.  The question now came on suspension of the 
rules and on a voice vote the rules were - 
 Suspended. 
# 5 Here insert Agenda # 5 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Kelley stated that he does not 
understand this.  He asked Chief Reardon to explain how FEMA, the Dive Team and Homeland 
Security and the port interact. 
 
Chief Reardon explained that there are seven miles of shoreline in Cambridge that the department 
is responsible for.  This is a grant by the federal government and it covers a lot of things.  He 
stated that the department's role is primarily mitigation, response and recovery.  He explained that 
the Dive Team is used for immediate recovery.  He explained the equipment that would be 
received by the department.  He stated that FEMA has standards for each rescue situation.  He 
noted that having a certified Dive Team helps with the departmental ratings.  He explained the 
department's role in port security.  Chief Reardon stated that his department is the first responder 
for the Charles River.   
 
Councillor Toomey stated that this is a valuable addition to public safety.  He stated that it is 
good to see the two fire boats on the Charles River.  He stated that for Cambridge to respond to 
any type of situation on the Charles River is fortunate.  He applauds this and the public safety 
services on both land and water.   
 
Councillor Mazen asked under what auspices is the Homeland Security funding this.  Chief 
Reardon stated that this is a water vehicle; an unmanned underwater vehicle.  It is a remote 
controlled vehicle with cameras.  He explained the use of the vehicle.  Councillor Mazen 
expressed his concern about the Homeland Security overreach into local areas when they should 
be a regional, state or federal.  He stated that this should be a shared resource with a less cost 
benefit and a greater efficiency which overtime can be a greater militarized force.  Chief Reardon 
stated that this is a grant program and FEMA and Homeland Security are the granting authority 
for the federal government.  He stated that his department is not a defense force; fire and 
environmental aspect his department is a regional team.  Councillor Mazen asked what the 
financial difference is between the vehicle and the breathing apparatus.  Chief Reardon responded 
that the vehicle is $129,000.  Councillor Mazen noted that Agenda # 4 is the cost of the vehicle.  
He stated that he would vote for # 5 and not on # 4. 
 
Councillor Cheung stated that our department is top rated.  Chief Reardon stated that the Fire 
Department is Rated # 1; one of 54 in the country.  Councillor Cheung wanted the equipment 
needed on hand when there is an emergency.  Chief Reardon noted that this is not a military 



12 
 

vehicle and will not be used in that manner.  He stated that equipment should have a dedicated 
use and people trained to use the equipment.  He spoke about the importance of the needs of the 
region and the area you are expected to protect.   
 
Councillor Kelley shares the concerns about the militarization of public safety.  It is important in 
this new threat era that everything having to do with FEMA and the Department of Homeland 
Security be viewed as something that we do not want.  This underwater vehicle for the Fire 
Department seems like a wonderful addition to the department.  He encouraged the Fire 
Department to get what the department needs.   
Councillor Toomey spoke about a car that went off the bridge and the Fire Department rescued 
the motorists.  This recovery vehicle will be beneficial if someone is drowning on the Charles 
River, especially in the winter, and will save the lives of public safety personnel.  He questioned 
Councillor Mazen about anything to do with Homeland Security he has a blanket no vote on. 
 
Councillor Mazen stated that he does not have a blanket no; this case is a borderline case for him.  
He noted that this vehicle would not be used for a car going into the river or someone falling 
through the ice because of the response and deployment time needed.  This should not be held by 
municipalities or be extremely large municipalities.  He stated that this is improper for 
municipalities to govern.   
 
Vice Mayor Benzan stated that the Supreme Court has never found that a person has a reasonable 
expectation for privacy underwater.  He sees this is an opportunity for this vehicle to aid in 
investigations and to ensure that the public safety personnel are not injured.  This is an important 
and effective tool to provide assistance to our citizens. 
 
The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORDER FOR AGENDA # 4) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, McGovern, Simmons, 
  Toomey and Mayor Maher     - 8 
NAYS:  Councillor Mazen      - 1 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
 The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORDER FOR AGENDA # 5) 
 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9  
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
# 6 Here insert Agenda # 6 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Toomey spoke about the 
extraordinary commitment the City places in the public safety of the residents.  He commended 
the Fire Chief for acquiring a replacement engine for engine 6.  Chief Reardon explained the 



13 
 

capabilities of the equipment.  This will the second foam truck and will function as a normal 
piece of apparatus for the day to day operations.   
 
Vice Mayor Benzan asked what happens to the equipment that is being retired.  Chief Reardon 
stated that this will be a spare and the oldest piece of equipment will be discarded as surplus 
through the Purchasing Department. 
 
The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORDER FOR AGENDA # 6) 
 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9  
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
#14 Here insert Agenda #14 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Toomey stated that this is a 
tremendous program which has taken place for three years.  He outlined the program.  The 
students from the high school will travel to Iceland; this is a tremendous opportunity for the 
students.  He stated that teams consist of 4-5 students who work with an advisor to come up with 
solutions to the problems of the world faced today.   
 
Mayor Maher stated that he and the City Manager attended the kick off of the challenge and there 
were over 150 students learning how to form their teams.   
 
Mr. Rossi spoke about the coordination between the EF, the City and the School Department.  He 
announced that next summer the City will have twenty-five STEAM related jobs as part of the 
Summer Jobs program.   
 
Councillor Kelley stated that this is great in theory.  He hopes that the participants are truly 
represent the diversity of the school body.  He commented that standards need to be higher 
because he wants to be excited with the presentations.   
 
Councillor Mazen stated that as a City relationships are not created to understand logistical and 
financial barriers.  He wanted to help people into these opportunities. 
Councillor Mazen was informed that this summer the engagement plan was crafted by fourteen 
students at the high school.  The plan looked at social media, hand to hand outreach at Rindge and 
Latin and writing newspaper articles.  There were 200 students signed up with 150 actually in the 
program.  The students were comprised of 1-3 students and then teams were formed and all teams 
had the potential to win because of their skills.  The focus was on making the outreach robust.  
Councillor Mazen reemphasized the importance of engaging the whole community and families 
in this work.   
 
Councillor Carlone asked if students from Europe would be attending seeing that this will be held 
in Iceland.  This was unknown because the Summit is being planned by EF.   
 
Councillor McGovern praised the work of the community engagement team and have them do the 
outreach.  They are scheduled to help on this process next year. 
 



14 
 

The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORDER FOR AGENDA # 14) 
 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9  
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
#19 Here insert Agenda # 19 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Toomey asked if Boston 
Properties was automatically awarded this or does it go out to other proposals from other 
companies.  Mr. Evans stated that to the extent that there are other property owners in the district 
who have capacity to do development on their parcels then the response is yes.  He further stated 
that there is a limited number of parcel ownership.  He stated that the CRA cannot delegate to a 
different developer rights to build on property that is owned by someone else.  Councillor 
Toomey noted that 90% of the land in question is owned by Boston Properties.  Mr. Evans 
responded 80%.  He stated that the parcels that are underdeveloped tend to be on Boston 
Properties land.  Boston Properties owns the parking garage on the North Parcel that has been 
identified in the K2 plan and the CRA EIR as a place for an opportunity for future development.  
He stated that Boston Properties is a developer who tends to hold onto land for a longer period of 
time.  Mr. Evans stated that Boston Properties has been selected as the master developer and has a 
contractual agreement with the CRA.   
 
Councillor Carlone stated that with the consultant study that the land owners were involved.  Mr. 
Evans stated that have been involved with into the future and especially with open space and 
Parcel 3.  Councillor Carlone commented on the CRA's urban design strategic plan was 
undertaken with great care.  He stated that the CRA will have the zoning rights and this makes 
sense.  A developer will come to the CRA and the CRA will do an assessment and come to an 
agreement.  Mr. Evans responded that each parcel has a slightly different transaction history.  Mr. 
Evans gave a brief outline of examples.  Councillor Carlone asked how public amenities comes 
into this.  Mr. Evans stated that streetscape design are done through the special permit process 
and programmatic would be done through CRA.  He stated that a document has been created 
entitled "Implementation Plan" that will list the public amenities and programs and the 
development timetable.   
 
Councillor Kelley spoke about development of Boston Properties and the Volpe site subject to the 
same thing.  He stated that Volpe just wants a new building and is looking at their excess property 
as a way to finance their new building.  If the two could be connected it would be a trade off with 
the Boston Properties site having more development and the Volpe site having less and would 
give more options and open space.  There may be a way to marry these conversations and come 
up with something that is better for everyone.   
#19 Placed on file. 
 
#20 Here insert Agenda # 20 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Toomey stated that a lot of 
development is occurring in Somerville.  With the additional signage it will alleviate problems.  
He wanted to know if the City was coordinating with Somerville about the traffic because the 
streets in this area are narrow.  Mr. Rossi stated that he would converse with the Mayor of 
Somerville and will instruct the City staff to work with Somerville. 
#20 Placed on file. 



15 
 

 
#21 Here insert Agenda # 21 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor McGovern stated that a lot of 
work has gone into this including working with beekeepers, Boston and Somerville.  He noted 
that the Health and Environment Committee report explained that the Urban Agricultural 
Ordinance in Boston does not cover hens and bees; this is separate.  Cambridge is including them.  
The report also stated that Urban Agriculture is not back yard gardening or community gardens.  
He wanted to know it should be done this way and what is the timeline.  There are no protection 
for beekeepers.  Mr. Jacobs, Chief Health Officer, explained that this is a process for the Health 
Department.  He stated that the Urban Agriculture Task Force has been looked at this issue for 
some time and has looked at surrounding cities and towns.  He stated that the timeline is this 
winter.  He stated that 2/3 of the community charrettes have been completed and interested 
community members are being engaged in this process.  He stated that the Urban Agriculture is 
being looked at for the entire city.  The other part of the regulation is the timeline through this 
winter and to have the feedback and to have a forum with regulations being promulgated this 
winter.   
 
Councillor McGovern wanted the ordinance to be officially part of the conversation.  There is an 
education part that needs to go along with this.  He explained that bees are at the calmest when 
they are swarming.  He wanted the ordinance to be reviewed.  There is a zoning ordinance that is 
required with this.  He wanted to move the zoning portion to the Ordinance Committee while this 
work is ongoing.  City Solicitor Glowa stated that for this ordinance to be considered it would 
need to be referred to the Ordinance Committee to be part of the Municipal Code.  She explained 
that beekeeping is not an allowed use under the zoning ordinance so there would need to be a 
petition to amend the zoning ordinance to make this an allowed use and would outline which 
districts this would be allowed in.  If this ordinance were referred to the Ordinance Committee it 
would give the Ordinance Committee and the staff from the Urban Agriculture Task Force, 
Community Development Department and the Health Department time to work with the Law 
Department and other parties to craft language for the zoning portion that could be introduced.  
Councillor McGovern stated that this would be allowed city-wide but the number of hives 
allowed would be dependent on density. 
#21 Referred to the Ordinance Committee on motion of Councillor McGovern. 
 
#22 Here insert Agenda # 22 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Carlone asked where this 
leads us.  City Solicitor Glowa stated that one of the questions asked was the traffic route taken 
by elephants in the circus which was answered by the Traffic Director.  She further stated that the 
question relating to prohibiting the use the ordinance would completely prohibit circus animals 
from or traveling shows that included wild animals from traveling through Cambridge.  She 
stated that the proposed ordinance amendment that was submitted was reviewed and suggested 
revisions were made.  She suggested that the matter be referred to the Ordinance Committee to 
consider the original proposal and the revisions. 
 
Councillor Mazen asked if there was a way to increase the $300 fine or to find a way to have the 
penalty more meaningful.  City Solicitor Glowa stated that this would need to be analyzed.  Fines 
cannot be imposed that are greater than the legal authority so this would been to be reviewed.   
#22 Referred to the Ordinance Committee. 
 
#23 Here insert Agenda # 23 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Carlone stated that he would 
like better copies of the drawings.  He understands the need for a driveway to drop people off at 
the building, but this is not the best use of a public space.  He noted that the metal panels he did 
not know the color and he felt that this is cold.  He did not know what the City Council is 
approving.  He supports this but felt that the building is being made less a part of the City.  Mr. 



16 
 

Greg Russ explained that the Housing Authority is only asking for an amendment to the ground 
lease to allow the financial package to go into place.  The proposed plans are the beginning phase 
of rolling them out to the public.  He encouraged Councillor Carlone to meet to discuss the reuse 
of the plaza with the eyebrow.  He stated that modifications are being made to the outside of the 
building.  He would entertain any suggestions.  The action tonight is technical amendments to 
allow the financing to go through.  Councillor Carlone stated that other buildings with these 
panels have not fit in.  Mr. Rossi explained that it is not the City Council's responsibility to 
approve what the building will look like.  He added that the Planning Board will be responding to 
the project.  Councillor Carlone stated that the project is a step backwards architecturally.   
 
Councillor Simmons stated that she understands the urgency to secure the funding.  She 
expressed her concerns about the Martin Luther King Plaza and she wanted to be assured that the 
commemoration to Dr. King remains on the plaza.  It is important to keep the historical 
significance on the plaza.  Mr. Greg stated that this will be included in the design.  Councillor 
Simmons suggested the addition of a third elevator. 
 
Councillor McGovern noted that the process included the residents of the Manning who approve 
of the plan being presented.  He stated that what is important to him is the process.  He applauded 
the action taken by the Housing Authority.  He stated this support. 
 
Vice Mayor Benzan spoke about access to free Wi-Fi; preservation of the King memorial, wide 
open spaces and the drive through.  He spoke about the redesign of the Green Street garage and 
integrating the open space in front of the building into a new parking garage with a greater 
capacity that would accommodate the first advanced bike facility in the City.  Mr. Greg stated 
that he will collaborate on this.   
 
 The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORDER FOR AGENDA #23) 
 The order was - 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
#24 Here insert Agenda #24 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Carlone asked how the City 
Council stays involved.  Mr. Rossi stated that this is an on-going discussion.  He stated that the 
first thing is to cull out the amount of money that is available for this process.  Place this money 
into a fund for mitigation.  He explained that some of the funding is targeted for specific purposes 
such as traffic related issues and scholarships.  He stated that $3.5 million is for community 
benefits with the non-profits.  He stated that when the Needs Assessment has been completed the 
City Council will be asked to adopt the key needs in the community.  There will be a board, 
similar to the Affordable Housing Trust, which will annually make allocation for contract 
services to the needs outlined by the Assessment and adopted by the City Council.  The board 
will report to the City Council and this will be revisited.  Councillor Carlone wanted the 
neighborhoods impacted by development to be seriously considered for the funding.  Mr. Rossi 
wanted to ensure neighborhood that are impacted by traffic, jobs, childcare and retraining and 
taken into consideration with the allocation.  Mr. Rossi stated that the City Council is being asked 
to move the money into a revenue fund and that some of this funding has been targeted for 
various zoning mitigation.  The funding came to the City without a plan.  He wanted this to move 
out of Free Cash.  He suggested that this be referred to the Finance Committee to discuss the $3.5 
million.   
 
Mayor Maher stated that this is being done the right way.  He noted that the creation was to have 
community input in this process.  Mr. Rossi explained that this has been researched legally and 



17 
 

financially as to how this money has to be handled properly.  This money was co-mingled for 
years.  The commitments have been traced back.  The money will be set up in a fund that will not 
be touched until there has been good dialogue with the City Council and the balance of the funds 
that have not been committed the community process will begin.   
 
Vice Mayor Benzan applauded the non-profit coalition. He stated that the impacts have to do with 
wind and density in the neighborhoods and the greatest impact is around economic justice.  He 
suggested that the appointments be for three years and staggered terms. Mr. Rossi stated that this 
will go to the Ordinance Committee.  The appointments are staggered. 
 
Councillor Toomey stated that the City has to be careful about how this is administered.  He 
wanted communities in need to be the prime recipients of the community benefits.  He did not 
want to see community benefits to open space going to neighborhoods who have open space.  He 
stated that a great amount of tax revenue is being received by the City being generated by one 
area in the City.  He stated his support.   
 
Councillor Mazen asked how long is to accrue the $16 million.  Mr. Rossi stated that moving 
forward various permitted projects have milestones and payments will be received as the 
milestones are met and Certificates of Occupancy issued.  He stated that this goes back to 2009 
but does not capture all the funding.  Ms. Farooq stated that the $16.6 million has already been 
received since 2009.  Mr. Rossi stated that now as a check comes to the City the City Council will 
appropriate the funds and this will provide an update as to what is available.  Councillor Mazen 
wanted to see additional sustainable, higher level grant writing.  Ms. Semonoff stated that the 
Needs Assessment is being done in collaboration with the Community Foundation for exactly this 
reason.  Councillor Mazen suggested a metric.   
# 24 Referred to the Ordinance Committee   
 
#25 Here insert Agenda # 25 read by Mayor Maher.  
The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT AGENDA # 25A) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9 
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
The following order was now considered, the question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT AGENDA # 25B) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9 
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
#27 Here insert Agenda # 27 read by Mayor Maher.   



18 
 

 Councillor Toomey exercised his Charter Right. 
 

AGENDA SIXTEEN 
 

Vice Mayor Benzan moved for suspension of the rules to bring forward Agenda # 16.  Mayor 
Maher stated that the item was acted upon, but the City Council did not endorse either "The Port" 
or the “Old Port." 
 
Councillor Simmons added historical information about the renaming of Area Four as "The Port."  
She stated that this has been done previously. 
 
Councillor Kelley stated that this is a bad idea and it will be confused with Cambridgeport.  He 
stated that at this point he wanted residents of Cambridgeport to weigh in on this.   
 
Councillor Simmons stated that this has been discussed for a decade and residents have expressed 
their desire to name the area "The Port." 
 
Vice Mayor Benzan stated that this has been a good process. 
 
Vice Mayor Benzan and Councillor Simmons submitted the following order to name Area Four 
as "The Port," which reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER #24) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Mazen, McGovern,   
 Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher    - 8 
NAYS:  Councillor Kelley      - 1 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 

 CALENDAR 
 

# 1 Here insert Calendar Item # 1 read by Mayor Maher.   
Vice Mayor Benzan moved adoption of the following order, the question being on adoption, to 
wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORDER FOR CALENDAR # 1) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Cheung, McGovern, Simmons, Toomey  
  and Mayor Maher      - 6 
NAYS:  Councillor Kelley      - 1 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
PRESENT: Councillors Carlone and Mazen    - 2 
and the order was - 
 Adopted. 
 
# 2 Here insert Calendar Item # 2 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Mazen moved the item. 
# 2 Referred to the City Manager with power. 
 
# 3 Here insert Calendar Item # 3 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor McGovern moved to 
place the matter on file. 



19 
 

#3 Placed on file on a voice vote on the motion of Councillor McGovern. 
 
#4-5 No action taken. 
# 6 Here insert Calendar Item # 6 read by Mayor Maher. 
Councillor Carlone moved passage to be ordained on the proposed amendment to the Municipal 
Code which reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT ORDINANCE 1373) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9 
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
and the proposed amendment was - 
 Passed to be ordained. 
 
# 7 Here insert Calendar Item # 7 read by Mayor Maher.  Vice Mayor Benzan moved 
ordination of the following Municipal Code: 
(HERE INSERT ORDINANCE # 1374) 
On this question the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9 
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
and the proposed amendment was - 
 Passed to be ordained. 
# 8 Passed to be ordained as amended (See Ordinance # 1372 above). 
  

APPLICATIONS AND PETITIONS 
 
# 1-4 Referred to the City Manager with power. 
# 5 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
# 6 Referred to Calendar Item # 3 
# 7 Referred to the Ordinance Committee and Planning Board for hearing and report. 
 

CONSENT COMMUNICATIONS 
 
# 1 Placed on file 
# 2-7 Referred to the petition 
# 8-16 Placed on file. 
 

CONSENT RESOLUTIONS 
 
#1-37 All consent resolutions were adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members and made 
unanimously sponsored. 
 

CONSENT POLICY ORDERS 
 
# 1 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
# 4-8 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
10-12 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
#14 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 



20 
 

#16 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
#18 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
#20 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
#23 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

# 1 Here insert Committee Report # 1 read by Mayor Maher.  The report was - 
 Accepted and placed on file. 
 
# 2 Here insert Committee Report # 2 read by Mayor Maher.  The report was - 
 Accepted and placed on file. 
 
 In connection with this matter the following orders were considered: 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER # 26) 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER # 27) 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER #28) 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER #29) 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER #30) 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
# 3 Here insert Committee Report # 3 read by Mayor Maher.  The report was - 
 Accepted and placed on file. 
 In connection with this matter Councillor Cheung submitted the following order, the 
question being on adoption, to wit: 
(HERE INSERT ORIGINAL ORDER # 31) 
 Councillor Cheung moved to amend the aforementioned order by adding at the end 
thereof the following: "and addressing other issues and ideas raised at the Health and 
Environment hearing held on September 16, 2015." 
 The question now came on the amendment - and on a voice vote the amendment - 
 Carried. 
 The question now came on adoption of the order as amended, which reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT AMENDED POICY ORDER # 31) 
 The order was - 
 Adopted as amended by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
# 4 Here insert Committee Report # 4 read by Mayor Maher.  The report was - 
 Accepted, placed on file and referred to the petition. 
 Councillor Carlone stated that the intention of the Ordinance Committee was to schedule 
another hearing. 
 

 
COMMUNICATIONS AND REPORTS FROM OTHER CITY OFFICERS 

 
# 2 Here insert Communications and Reports from City Officers # 2 read by Mayor Maher. 
# 2 Referred to the petition. 
 



21 
 

#1 Here insert Communication and Reports from City Officers # 1 read by Mayor Maher.   
 Councillor Mazen stated that this is a political issue.  Mayor Maher explained that if there 
is going to discussion on this item the City Council needs to move to Executive Session.   
 
 Councillor Kelley questioned the need to move to Executive Session. 
 
 City Solicitor Glowa stated that the reason to go into Executive Session is because this is 
pending or threatened litigation. This is a complaint to the Attorney General alleging that this 
body has violated the law and the response is on behalf of the body.  She stated that if there is 
disagreement about the substance of the response as this relates to litigation strategy and if there 
were discussion on the merits of the proposed response it should be done in Executive Session.   
Councillor Kelley stated that he did not see where it stated pending or threatened litigation.  City 
Solicitor explained that this is a complaint to the Attorney General and if the City did not agree 
with the outcome of it would go to court.  She added that this is the first stage of an 
administrative matter that does involve threatened litigation.  The proponent has asserted that this 
body has disobeyed the law.  If the Attorney General agrees with the assertion and if the City 
Council wanted to dispute the matter this would be done in a court proceeding.  This has always 
been viewed at threatened litigation.  City Solicitor Glowa stated that as attorney for the body she 
did not believe having a discussion in open session because the legal strategy of the body would 
be jeopardized by discussing these issues in open session.  Councillor Kelley felt that Executive 
Session is overused and a bad idea.  City Solicitor Glowa stated that if Councillor Mazen wished 
to discuss the point that the logic is faulty then her hands would be tied because it would not be 
permissible to discuss the legal strategy in open session.  It would be the assertions of Councillor 
Mazen that would be unaddressed if this is the way in which the City Council wanted to proceed 
it is the prerogative of the City Council.   
 
Councillor Mazen commented that he did not feel he was named in an open meeting law 
complaint.  He stated that when City Solicitor Glowa stated that this body was named it is a 
majority of this body.  City Solicitor Glowa responded that the assertion is for seven members of 
the body which represents a quorum of the body.  There are two members who are not included in 
the complaint.  Councillor Mazen asked how we should proceed on this. 
 
Vice Mayor Benzan stated that Councillor Mazen is interested in discussing that matter so he 
would move to go into Executive Session.  He stated that Councillor Mazen's comments would be 
viewed in light of the complainant so the proper place to discuss this is in Executive Session.   
 
Mayor Maher suggested that the City Council complete the remainder of the meeting and then go 
into Executive Session.  He asked what the pleasure of the City Council is.  Councillor Kelley 
again stated that going into Executive Session is a bad idea.  Councillor Mazen stated that his 
comments would not be so insightful that a litigant on the other side would not have already 
thought of them.    
 
At the end of the meeting before adjournment Councillor Mazen stated that he spoke with City 
Solicitor Glowa and expressed his concerns.  He stated that it would not be productive to be part 
of an Executive Session.  He stated that Executive Session can be avoided and the City Solicitor 
has his concerns.   
 
The City Council moved to vote on approving the response contained in Communications and 
Reports from City Officers # 1 and the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Cheung, Kelley, McGovern, Simmons,   
 Toomey and Mayor Maher      - 7 



22 
 

NAYS:  Councillor Mazen       - 1 
ABSENT: None         - 0 
PRESENT: Councillor Carlone       - 1 
 
and the response was - 
 Approved. 
 

NON CONSENT ORDERS 
 

# 2 Here insert Policy Order # 2 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Mazen stated that 
legislation such as this is important.  He wanted it acknowledged how difficult economic 
development can be and how important it is to do things simultaneously and to reach out to 
neighborhoods, beginning with K-12 professional development and job readiness.  To empower 
young people with the tools needed to succeed.  He wanted a pipeline created of economic 
development network and programs.   
 
Councillor McGovern asked if this was part of the Nexus Study already asked for.  He believed 
that this is being looked at through the Nexus Study.  
 
Councillor Cheung stated that the Nexus Study is looking at the Inclusionary.   
 
Councillor Simmons explained that the jobs piece was attached to the Linkage was because the 
Nexus Study gives the information and justification.  She wanted to ensure that the efforts were 
not duplicative or burdensome.  She supported the spirit and the intent, but has not encumbered 
the process.   
 
Vice Mayor Benzan suggested that the matter be referred to Economic Development and 
schedule a hearing. 
 
Councillor McGovern stated that it is not clear that this is already being looked at.  He suggested 
referring this to the City Manager and report back whether this is in the Nexus Study and if not it 
can be included.  He feels that this has already been asked for. 
 
# 2 Charter Right exercised by Councillor Cheung. 
 
# 3 Here insert Policy Order # 3 read by Vice Mayor Benzan.  Councillor Mazen spoke about 
a more comprehensive approach.  He asked if more things could be added to this order or is it 
good as it is. Councillor Cheung noted that all concerns are covered in the Policy Order adopted 
in the committee report. 
# 3 Order adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
# 9 Here insert Original Policy Order # 9 read by Vice Mayor Benzan.  Councillor Kelley 
stated that a train stop is needed.  He stated that the Alewife area should be looked at to combine 
some type of crossing whether an overpass, bridge, platform or tunnel with a commuter rail stop 
which will include air rights.  Councillor Kelley moved to amend the aforementioned order by 
adding at the end of the last paragraph the following: "; said report to include a review of building 
a commuter rail stop to be built with any combination of air right development incentives." 
 
Councillor Carlone stated that this will include the state because of the economic costs of the 
bridge would be reduced if the right of way is reduced.  He added that it comes down to the 
Department of Transportation taking the lead.  This is where the air rights would be held.  He 



23 
 

agreed that at status report is need on this.  He stated that this is the center of the Alewife Study 
and the area will be vitalized by this commuter rail station.   
 
Councillor Cheung stated that this is a complex issue.  He wanted an update on where things are 
going because there are a lot moving pieces.   
 
The question now came on the amendment - and on a voice vote the amendment - 
Carried. 
The question now came on adoption of the order as amended which reads as follows: 
(HERE COPY AMENDED POLICY ORDER # 9) 
The order was - 
 Adopted as amended by the affirmative vote of nine members.   
 
#13 Here insert Original Policy Order # 13 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Kelley moved 
to amend by substitution, which reads as follows: 
 
(HERE INSERT AMENDED ORDER #13) 
 
Councillor Kelley stated that one of the problems is the bike lane at the northern part of Flagstaff 
Park that allows crossing over Cambridge Street is in conflict.  He noted that some bike ideas end 
up being less than useful.  He wanted a solution to this.   
 
The question now came on the adoption of the order as amended by substitution - and on a voice 
vote the order was - 
 Adopted as amended by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
#15 Here insert Policy Order # 15 read by Vice Mayor Benzan.  Vice Mayor Benzan stated 
that this is an issue that has been worked on by the students at the Cambridgeport School and it 
was his misunderstanding that he thought the students were part of this process.  Vice Mayor 
Benzan moved to place the matter on the table and on this motion the roll was called and resulted 
as follows: 
YEAS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley Mazen,   
  McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor Maher  - 9 
NAYS:  None        - 0 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
and the matter was - 
 Tabled. 
 
 
#17 Here insert Policy Order # 17 read by Vice Mayor Benzan.  Councillor Toomey stated 
that all are pleased that Harvard, MIT and the Cambridge Health Alliance offer a shuttle service.  
He noted that these vehicles are 60 passenger vehicles and even during the daytime only 1-2 
people are on the shuttles.  He wanted the entities to do a survey of how many people are using 
this service.  He stated that he would rather see a smaller van offered for this service because 
these large busses are bad for the environment.   
 
#17 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
#19 Here insert Original Policy Order # 19 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Toomey moved 
to amend the aforementioned order by adding "18-23 Fifth Street, Cambridge and Fulkerson, 
Eight and Gore Streets." 



24 
 

 
Councillor Kelley stated that this is an issue around the City.  Councillor Kelley moved to further 
amend the order by adding at the end thereof a new paragraph which reads as follows: 
 
ORDERED: That the City Manager be and hereby is requested to consider adding   
 the sewer gas issue to the IReport System. 
 
The question now came on the amendment offered by Councillor Kelley and on a voice vote the 
amendment - 
 Carried. 
 
 The question now came on the amendment by Councillor Toomey and on a voice vote 
the amendment - 
 Carried. 
 
 The question now came on the adoption of the order as amended which reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT AMENDED ORDER # 19) 
 The order was - 
 Adopted as amended by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 
#21 Here insert Original Policy Order # 21 read by Mayor Maher.  Councillor Kelley stated 
that there was an amendment by substitution.  He stated that he does not think that Roundtables 
are the best way to run the meetings and he preferred that they be televised.   
 
Councillor Mazen moved suspension of the rules to bring in a late order and split Policy Order 
#21 into two things.  He explained that he wanted to amend Policy Order # 21 by substitution and 
bring in a late order. 
 
Vice Mayor Benzan read the substituted text and moved the amendment by substitution which 
reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT AMENDED ORDER # 21) 
The question now came on a voice vote the motion to amend by substitution carried on a voice 
vote of eight.  Councillor Toomey was recorded in the negative.   
 Councillor Toomey exercised his Charter Right on the substituted order. 
 
 Councillor Toomey stated that if it is the well of the City Council to abolish the 
Roundtables the Government Operations, Rules and Claims Committee will conduct a hearing on 
this.  The Roundtables are wanted some of the time and then not wanted.  This is becoming a 
political ploy.  He stated either there are going to be Roundtables or not.  This has been scheduled 
by the Mayor in advance.  He stated that he will Charter Right and see what is wanted by the 
majority.   
 
Councillor Mazen stated that in 2015 the idea of a non-televised, non-streamed gathering is 
outrageous.  He did not think that he would need a hearing before the Government Operations, 
Rules and Claims Committee to see this important hearing to be televised.  He stated that to start 
the Masterplan process without televising this process is a huge oversight.   
 
Vice Mayor Benzan moved for a roll call on the motion to suspend the rules to introduce a late 
policy order submitted by Councillor Mazen which reads as follows: 
(HERE INSERT POLICY ORDER #32) 
The question now came on suspension of the rules and the roll was called and resulted as follows: 



25 
 

YEAS:  Councillors Carlone, Mazen, McGovern, Simmons, Toomey and Mayor 
  Maher        - 6 
NAYS:  Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Cheung and Kelley  - 3 
ABSENT: None        - 0 
and the rules were - 
 Suspended. 
 
 Councillor Toomey moved that the matter be referred to Government Operations, Rules 
and Claims Committee for a hearing - and on a voice vote the motion - 
 Carried. 
 Councillor Carlone was recorded in the negative on this matter.   
 
#22 Here insert Policy Order # 22 read by Vice Mayor Benzan.  Councillor Toomey asked 
that the City look at Somerville's new pedestrian crossing illuminated signage that should be 
replicated in the City.   
 The order was - 
 Adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members. 
 

LATE RESOLUTIONS 
 

#38-50 Resolutions adopted by the affirmative vote of nine members and made  
unanimously sponsored.  

LATE POLICY ORDER 
 

The question now came on suspension of rules in order to introduce Late Policy  
Orders and the roll was called and resulted as follows: 
YEAS: Councillors Mazen, Toomey and Mayor Maher   - 3  
NAYS: Vice Mayor Benzan, Councillors Carlone, Cheung, Kelley, McGovern 
 and Simmons      - 6 
ABSENT: None      - 0 
and the rules were - 
 Not suspended.   

 
(Prior to Adjournment the City Council went back to Communication and Reports 
from City Officers # 2.  See the continuation of this discussion with the section 
Communications and Reports from City Officers # 2 above.) 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
On motion of Councillor McGovern the meeting adjourned at 11:07 PM. 
 
A list of documents and other exhibits used at the meeting: 
 
 City Manager’s Agenda 
 City Council Agenda 
 CD of meeting 

 


